
  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 1 of 3 
March 2, 2020 

AGENDA 
STAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

Monday, March 2, 2020 
Stayton Community Center 

400 W. Virginia Street 
Stayton, Oregon  97383 

 
CALL TO ORDER    7:00 PM    Mayor Porter 
 
FLAG SALUTE 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
a. Additions to the agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, Bias, etc.  
 
APPOINTMENTS – None  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
If you wish to address the Council, please fill out a “Request for Recognition” form on the table 
near the door. Speakers are limited to 3 minutes and must state their name and residence. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a. February 18, 2020 City Council Minutes 
 
GENERAL BUSINESS 
Marion County Tobacco and Substance Abuse Presentation 
a. Presentation – Marion County 
b. Public Comment 
c. Council Discussion 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Introduction 
c. Applicant Presentation 
d. Staff Report 
e. Questions from the Council 
f. Proponents’ Testimony 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 
h. Governmental Agencies 
i. General Testimony 
j. Questions from the Public 
k. Questions from the Council 
l. Applicant Summary 
m. Staff Summary 
n. Close of Hearing 
o. Council Deliberation 
p. Council Decision on Ordinance No. 1043 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 2 of 3 
March 2, 2020 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
Intergovernmental Agreements with Marion County for 2020 Slurry Seal and Asphalt 
Pavement Overlay Programs 
a. Staff Report – Lance Ludwick 
b. Public Comment 
c. Council Discussion 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR AND COUNCILORS 
 
 
 
 
COMMUNICATION FROM CITY STAFF 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
a. Public Hearing – Supplemental Budget 
b. Public Hearing – Surplus Properties 
c. Emergency Management Equipment Update 

 
 
 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter 
for the hearing impaired or other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be 

made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you require special accommodations contact 
Administrative Services Manager Alissa Angelo at (503) 769-3425. 

 
 

 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 3 of 3 
March 2, 2020 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 
MARCH 2020 

Monday March 2 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday March 3 Parks & Recreation Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday March 9 Budget Committee Work Session 6:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday March 10 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday March 16 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday March 18 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday March 30 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

APRIL 2020 
Monday April 6 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday April 7 Parks & Recreation Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday April 14 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 

Wednesday April 15 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday April 20 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday April 27 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

MAY 2020 
Monday May 4 Budget Committee 6:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday May 4 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday May 5 Parks & Recreation Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday May 11 Budget Committee 6:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday May 12 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Tuesday May 12 Budget Committee 6:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday May 13 Budget Committee 6:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday May 18 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday May 20 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday May 25 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

JUNE 2020 
Monday June 1 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday June 2 Parks & Recreation Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday June 9 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday June 15 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday June 17 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday June 29 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 1 of 3 
February 18, 2020 

 City of Stayton 
City Council Minutes 

February 18, 2020 

LOCATION:  STAYTON COMMUNITY CENTER, 400 W. VIRGINIA STREET, STAYTON 

Time Start: 7:00 P.M.     Time End: 8:26 P.M. 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE LOG 

COUNCIL STAYTON STAFF  
Mayor Henry Porter Alissa Angelo, Administrative Services Manager 
Councilor Paige Hook Keith Campbell, City Manager 
Councilor Ben McDonald Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning & Development 
Councilor Christopher Molin  David Frisendahl, Police Chief 
Councilor Jordan Ohrt (excused) Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 
Councilor David Patty Janna Moser, Library Director 
 Susannah Sbragia, Finance Director 

 
AGENDA ACTIONS 

REGULAR MEETING 
Announcements 
a. Additions to the Agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, 

Bias, etc. 

 
None. 
None. 
 

Appointments None.  
  

General Business 
Railroad Letter of Support Presentation 
a. Continuation of Council Discussion 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. Public Comment 
 
 

c. Council Decision 

 
 
Mayor Porter introduced Kevin Mannix of the Oregon Port of 
the Willamette who spoke about the Railroad and a 
requested letter of support. 
 
Council questions and discussion regarding the timeline for 
seeing rail service in Stayton, who will be responsible for the 
road crossings in Stayton, potential noise issues,  
 
Russ Strohmeyer spoke in support of signing the letter of 
support.  
 
There was consensus from the Council to authorize Mayor 
Porter to sign a letter of support for the Railroad. 
 

Public Comments 
a. Russ Strohmeyer 
 

 
 Mr. Strohmeyer spoke about public comment. 
 

Consent Agenda 
a. February 3, 2020 City Council Minutes 
 

 
Motion from Councilor Patty, seconded by Councilor Hook, 
to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Motion 
passed 4:0. 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 2 of 3 
February 18, 2020 

Public Hearing None. 
 

General Business 
Facilities Master Plan Presentation 
a. Presentation – Mackenzie 
 
 
b. Public Comment 

 
 
 

c. Council Discussion 
 
 
 
 
 
Resolution No. 1001, to Apply for a Local Government 
Grant from the Oregon Parks and Recreation 
Department for the Development of Mill Creek Park 
a. Staff Report – Lance Ludwick 

 
b. Public Comment 

 
 
c. Council Deliberation 

 
 

d. Council Decision 

 
 
Representatives from Mackenzie provided a presentation to 
the Council regarding the Facilities Master Plan project.  
 
Aaron Frichtl spoke in support of a new Police facility and 
shared concern of the City offices moving from the 
downtown core.  
 
Council questions and discussion on consolidation of City 
departments into one facility, identifying funding options, 
the recent public outreach meeting, pros and cons of 
separate buildings versus combining departments together 
into one building, and seismic events.  
 
 
 
 
Mr. Ludwick reviewed the staff report.   
 
Aaron Fricthl requested more information on the master 
plan for Mill Creek Park.  
 
Council discussion and questions on funding for the match 
and potential funding sources for remaining park phases.  
 
Motion from Councilor Patty, seconded by Councilor Molin, 
to approve Resolution No. 1001 as presented.  
 
Council Discussion: Councilor Hook spoke in support of the 
project and grant application.  
 
Motion passed 4:0.  
 

Communications from Mayor and Councilors Chat with a Councilor will be held on Saturday, February 22nd 
from 1:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m. at Moxieberry in Stayton.  
 
Councilor Hook shared information from a meeting she had 
with Congressman Kurt Schrader regarding the Stayton 
community. She also spoke about the railroad letter of 
support and upcoming census. 
 
Mr. Ludwick provided an update on the recent fuel spill 8 
miles east of the Detroit reservoir.  
 

Communication from City Staff  Mr. Campbell thanked Public Works Director Lance Ludwick 
and Chief Water Treatment Plant Operator Michael Bradley 
for their work on the fuel spill.  



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 3 of 3 
February 18, 2020 

Future Agenda Items 
a. Marion County Presentation – Tobacco and Substance Abuse 
b. Public Hearing – Fern Ridge Annexation and Comprehensive Plan Amendment 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 2ND DAY OF MARCH 2020, BY A ____ VOTE OF THE STAYTON CITY 
COUNCIL. 
 

Date:    By:   
  Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
Date:   Attest:   

 Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
       
Date:  Transcribed by:        
   Alissa Angelo, Administrative Services Manager 

 



 

1 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: March 2, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Annexation Application, Gene Jones, 13601 Fern Ridge Rd 
  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is a public hearing on an application for the annexation for 
approximately 19 acres of land at 13601 Fern Ridge Rd and to assign Medium Density 
Residential zoning to the property.  Following the public hearing, the Council will be requested 
to consider Ordinance 1043 that will annex the property and amend the Official Zoning Map. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The territory proposed for annexation is a 19-acre parcel of land on the north side of Fern Ridge 
Road, between Foothills Church and the Boulders mobile home park.  The property has 
frontage along Highway 22, but has no legal access to the highway.  The property is currently 
vacant, with a small storage shed located on it.  A March, 2014 aerial photo of the property is 
shown below. 

 



 

2 
 

The applicant originally submitted a concurrent application for a Comprehensive Plan Map 
amendment with the application for annexation, requesting the Comprehensive Plan Map 
designation be changed from Residential to Commercial.  At that time the applicant intended to 
develop the property as a recreational vehicle park.  Following the Planning Commission’s 
public hearing in December that application was withdrawn.   

The applicant is now requesting that the City Council assign Medium Density Residential zoning 
to the property, indicating his current intention to develop a 98-space mobile home park. 

ANALYSIS 

This report presents the Planning Staff’s summary and analysis concerning this application.  It 
was developed after seeking input from other City departments and agencies.  As is routine for 
all land use applications, notice of the application was sent to the City of Stayton Public Works, 
Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company, Pacific Power, NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, 
Marion County Public Works, Marion County Planning Division, Santiam Water Control District 
and the North Santiam School District.  No comments were received or concerns raised by 
these agencies regarding the annexation.  Some comments were received regarding future 
development of the property and those comments are reflected below and in the findings that 
are part of the draft Ordinance. 

Attached is an application for annexation from Gene Jones.  The application consist of the 
application form and the applicant’s narrative, as well as a conceptual plan of a possible future 
mobile home park to be developed on the property.  Also attached is the Planning 
Commission’s order, containing its findings and recommendation. 

Annexation Criteria 

Section 17.12.210 of the Land Use and Development Code contains six criteria for approval of 
applications for annexation.  The sixth criterion applies only to contract annexations and is not 
applicable to this application.  The other five criteria are: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 

b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services including such 
services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract annexation agreement 
between the applicant and the City. 

c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional limits. 

d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and 
complies with the urban growth program and policies of the City of Stayton. 

e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable provisions 
of state and local law. 

Criteria b, c, and e are fairly objective and leave little for interpretation.  Sewer and water 
facilities are available in Fern Ridge Rd and on the property.  The area to be annexed is 
contiguous to the City Limits on three sides and provisions of the state law – process and 
consent of landowners – have been or will be followed. 



 

3 
 

This leaves the other two criteria for more careful scrutiny and analysis.  The “need” for any 
annexation may always be debated.  The application narrative merely includes a statement 
regarding the economic boost to the City’s economy from development of the property.  Some 
additional information, which is reflected in the draft ordinance is presented below. 

The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).  
The 2013 BLI provides the following information on projected growth and need for 
additional land in the community.  At that time, there were 114 lots comprising 106 acres of 
vacant land inside the City limits in the Low, Medium, and High Density Residential Zones.  
The projected population for the City in 2030 (at a growth rate of 1.7%) was 11,359 people, 
requiring an additional 1,281 dwellings.  To meet that need, the City Comprehensive Plan 
indicates the expected need of an additional 320 acres of residential land to be annexed 
into the City.   Since the time that analysis was conducted, the City has annexed 38 acres of 
residential land. 

Staff maintains data on the vacant parcels within the City Limits.  There are currently 81 
vacant lots totaling 110 acres within the City Limits that are residentially zoned. 

Only one subdivision has been platted in the past 5 years.  Two subdivisions have been 
platted in the past 10 years.  The total number of lots in each and the current status is 
shown in the table below. 

Recent Subdivisions in Stayton 

Subdivision Name Year Platted No of Lots  Existing Homes Vacant Lots 

Phillips Estates, Phase 2 2014 26 5 21 
Wildlife Meadows 2017 44 41 5 

In addition, there is a possible third phase of the Phillips Estates subdivision, accounting for 
a potential of 10 lots, the Lambert Place subdivision with 51 lots, and the E Virginia St 
Terrace with four lots that have received preliminary plan approval from the Planning 
Commission but not yet been platted with Marion County. 

Though there are 81 parcels totaling 110 acres in the City and residentially zoned, staff 
estimates that there are only 74 parcels totaling 60 acres of vacant property within the City 
limits that is residentially zoned and reasonably available for development.  Lack of utility 
availability, ownership by a governmental entity, wetlands and floodplain issues constrain 
the ability of the remaining land to be available for development.  Within the LD zone there 
are 59 lots reasonably available for development.  In the MD zone there are 14 vacant lots.  
There is only one vacant lot in the High Density Residential Zone.  With 4 acres, it has the 
potential capacity for 50 to 60 dwelling units. 

The City’s growth rate from 2000 and 2019 has been at an average annual rate of about 
0.8%, with a population change of 1,054 people.  The Marion County Coordinated Growth 
projection for 2030 is 11,360, reflecting a 1.6% average annual growth rate for the next ten 
years.  At a 1.6% growth rate from the most recent certified population estimate of the City, 
there would be the need for 495 new dwellings units over the next 10 years.  At an average 
of 4 units per acre for single family development, there would be the need for all of the 



 

4 
 

existing vacant land in the City and 40 acres of land beyond the vacant land considered 
reasonably available for development to accommodate this number of homes. 

The second criterion for approval of an annexation is that the site is or will be capable of being 
serviced by adequate City public services.  The application narrative does not provide any 
information regarding the existing and planned utilities in the vicinity of the parcels to be 
annexed.  Instead, the narrative includes a statement that the City has adopted codes 
regulating public facilities and development is subject to the City’s standards.  The application 
form does indicate that there is an 8-inch water main and an 8-inch sewer main in Fern Ridge 
Rd.  The application form also indicates that the private franchise utilities are available.  Some 
additional information, which is reflected in the draft ordinance, is presented below. 

The City’s records indicate that there are the following publicly-owned utilities present at 
the property.  There is a 10-inch sewer main located partially within a utility easement on 
the subject property and partially within the Fern Ridge Rd right of way along the entire 
length of the subject property. There is a 10-inch and 12-inch sewer main located in a utility 
easement along the west side of the subject property. 

There is a 6-inch water main located on the south side of Fern Ridge Rd.  The Public Works 
Department has commented that the Water Master Plan calls for construction of a 16-inch 
water main along the north side of Fern Ridge Road connecting to the existing 16-inch 
mains located in the street right of way to both the east and west of the subject property. 

The fourth criterion for approval of an annexation is that the proposal is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area and complies with the urban growth program and policies of 
the City.  The application narrative notes that “the subject property is surrounded by a mobile 
home park to the east, vacant land to the northwest and commercial use to the southwest.  All 
design and code standards will ensure that when the site is developed it is consistent with the 
character of the neighborhood.”  Staff is concerned with the accuracy of the above statements 
and is further concerned with relying on a future application for development for making the 
determination needed now regarding compatibility.  Some additional information, which is 
reflected in the findings within the draft ordinance, is presented below. 

The surrounding area is developed with residential properties and a church.  The property 
to the west is zoned Public/Semi-Public, and is developed as a church.  The properties to the 
south and across Fern Ridge Rd are zoned Low Density Residential, and are developed with 
single family detached dwellings. The property to the east is zoned Medium Density 
Residential and is developed as a mobile home park.  The property to the north and across 
State Highway 22, is zoned Exclusive Farm Use, and is farmland.  The applicant requests the 
property be zoned Medium Density Residential and intends to develop the property as a 
mobile home park. 

Zone Map Amendment 

When property is annexed into the City, its zoning is changed from a Marion County zone to a 
City of Stayton zone.  Therefore, upon the advice of the then-City Attorney a few years ago, we 
must go through the criteria for approval for a Zone Map amendment with any annexation.  



 

5 
 

Section 17.12.180.6 of the Land Use and Development Code contains six criteria for approval of 
applications for zone map amendments.  Under the terms of Section 127.12.210.5, the specific 
zone assigned to the land being annexed is determined by the City Council in accordance with 
the proposed uses of the land and the needs identified by the buildable lands analysis in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   

The property is designated Residential by the Comprehensive Plan Map.  Chapter 17.16 of the 
Land Use and Development Code establishes three possible zoning classifications for residential 
zones:   

 LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (LD).  To provide for single family dwelling units and their 
accessory uses and, with conditional use approval, other uses compatible with single 
family dwelling units. Density shall not exceed 6 units per acre.  The minimum lot size in 
the LD zone east of Tenth Ave is 10,000 square feet with an 80-foot lot width 
requirement. 

 MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (MD). To provide for single family, duplex, triplex, and 
mobile home parks, and other compatible uses with conditional approval.  Density of 
development shall not exceed 12 dwelling units per acre.  The minimum lot size in the MD 
zone is 7,000 square feet with a 70-foot lot width requirement. 

 HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (HD). To provide for multifamily residential units, other 
compatible living units, their accessory structures and, with conditional use approval, 
other compatible uses.  The minimum density shall be 13 units per acre. There shall be no 
upper limit to the maximum allowable dwelling density.  The minimum lot size in the HD 
zone is 6,000 square feet with a 60-foot lot width requirement. 

The task before the City Council is to determine which of the three zones is most appropriate 
considering the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan.  The applicant has requested the 
City apply Medium Density Residential zoning to the property and has presented a conceptual 
plan for development of the property as a mobile home park.  The Planning Commission, 
following its analysis has recommended Medium Density Residential zoning.   

The Comprehensive Plan notes the need for the City’s Comprehensive Plan to be coordinated 
with the Marion County Comprehensive Plan and that the urban growth framework in the 
County Plan calls for an overall density guideline of between 5 and 6 units per acre of land 
zoned for residential use.  Table 3.8 of the Comprehensive Plan notes that overall, the City had 
only 3.1 dwelling units per acre of land zoned residential, ranging from as high as 11.4 units per 
acre for land zoned HD, to 4.6 units per acre in the MD zone to as low as 2.2 units per acre in 
the LD zone.  It should be noted that this includes vacant parcels and parcels with potential for 
redevelopment and is a density calculation based on the gross acreage of land zone residential, 
including streets. 

The Comprehensive Plan also included an analysis of the density of recent development in the 
City.  For residential subdivisions recorded between 2000 and 2009, the density was 2.8 
dwelling units per gross acre of land developed, about half of the targeted density. 



 

6 
 

Staff has recently updated that analysis as part of the Planning Commission’s review of the 
residential zoning requirements.  Currently, the Low Density Residential (LD) is almost 70% of 
the residentially zoned land, at 706 acres.  Within the LD zone are 1,574 housing units for a 
density of 2.23 units per acre. 

The Medium Density Residential (MD) zone is about 25% of the residentially zoned land, at 229 
acres.  Within the MD zone are 1,015 housing units for a density of 4.43 units per acres. 

The High Density Residential (HD) zone is the remaining 5% of the residentially zoned land, but 
contains about 15 % of the housing units.  There are 44 acres of land zoned HD, with 495 
dwellings for a density of 11.25 units per acre. 

Since 2000 there have been 17 subdivision plats recorded within the City, in addition to a 
number of partitions.  The Lambert Place subdivision is currently under construction and is 
expected to have a plat recorded this spring.  The Virginia Terrace subdivision is expected to be 
constructed this summer and the plat recorded before the end of the year.  The 19 subdivisions 
have been analyzed for the density of development.  It should be noted that the more recent 
subdivisions are not completely built-out.  The analysis below assumes that platted lots in the 
LD zone and Lambert Place will be built on with a single family detached homes and that 
Virginia Terrace will be four duplexes. 

Residential Density in Subdivisions Platted Since 2000 

Subdivision 
Year 
Platted Zone 

Total 
Area 

Lot 
Area 

No of 
Lots 

No of 
Dwellings Density 

Mountain Estates 1 2000 LD 7.26 6.09 10 10 1.4 
Mountain Estates 2 2001 LD 12.11 8.56 13 13 1.1 
Sylvan Springs 2A 2001 LD 3.54 2.65 14 14 4.0 
Sylvan Springs 2B 2001 LD 2.67 2.04 12 12 4.5 
Village Creek 2001 MD 16.77 12.24 68 68 4.1 
Oakridge Vista 2002 LD 19.81 16.06 31 31 1.6 
Pemberton Estates 2003 MD 2.77 2.36 12 12 4.3 
Sylvan Springs 1C 2003 LD 8.04 2.41 15 15 1.9 
Sylvan Springs 2C 2003 LD 7.05 3.87 22 22 3.1 
Village at Sylvan Springs 2005 MD 9.41 6.93 37 37 3.9 
Jefferson Place 2007 LD 7.03 5.73 23 23 3.3 
Mountain Estates 3 2007 LD 2.35 2.03 5 5 2.1 
Third Avenue 2008 MD 0.76 0.72 4 4 5.3 
Phillips Estates 1 2009 LD 5.34 3.75 20 20 3.7 
Roth Estates 2009 MD 3.23 2.62 12 13 4.0 
Phillips Estates 2 2014 LD 7.04 4.86 26 26 3.7 
Wildlife Meadows 2017 LD 13.92 7.54 44 47 3.4 
Lambert Place 2020 MD   13.12  51 51 3.9 
Virginia Terrace 2020 MD    1.10  4 8 7.3 
   Total   143.32       423   3.0 



 

7 
 

Without any new multi-family developments, the development pattern during the past 20 years 
has not met the guideline established by the Marion County Plan.  The density of “new” 
residential subdivisions is slightly lower than the density for all residential property including 
vacant land. 

In the past 20 years, there have been 142 acres of land included in recorded and approved but 
not yet recorded subdivisions.  Of these, 96 acres were zoned LD and 47 were zoned MD. 

Since 2000, there have been only two developments on land zoned HD:  the assisted living 
facility on N Third Ave in 2000 and a 4-unit apartment on Locust St in 2002. 

Within the LD zone there are 60 lots reasonably available for development.  Of these, only ten 
are large enough to be further divided and only four are larger than one acre.  In the MD zone 
there are 15 vacant lots, of which seven are large enough to be further divided.  There is only 
one vacant lot in the High Density Residential Zone.  With 4 acres, it has the potential capacity 
for 50 to 60 dwelling units. 

Assigning MD or HD zoning to the subject parcel will assist the City meet its target of 5-6 units 
per acre of residentially zoned land. 

The Comprehensive Plan Map also designates land within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch to have a 
Natural Resource Overlay District.   

Voter Approval 

Chapter 1, Section 4 of the Stayton City Charter requires that an annexation over one acre not 
required by state law must be approved by the city voters before the annexation takes effect.  
Section 17.12.210.2.a.2) of the Stayton Municipal Code spells out the details of the process for 
the annexation of more than one acre of land into the City.  The process envisioned by the Code 
is that following a public hearing, should the City Council determine the criteria for approval are 
met, the Council will enact a resolution forwarding a measure to the voters of the City at the 
next available scheduled election. 

In March, 2016, the Oregon Legislative Assembly enacted and Governor Brown signed Chapter 
51 of the Oregon Laws of 2016.  Section 2 of this law applies to cities whose laws require a 
petition proposing annexation of territory to be submitted to the electors of the city, as 
Stayton’s do.  The law requires “the legislative body of the city [to] annex the territory without 
submitting the proposal to the electors of the city if” 

(a) the territory is within an urban growth boundary adopted by the city; 

(b) the territory will be subject to an acknowledged comprehensive plan of the city; 

(c) at least one lot or parcel within the territory is contiguous to the city limits; and 

(d) the proposal conforms to all other requirement of the city’s ordinances. 

It is staff’s determination that all four of the criteria above are met and therefore the Council is 
required by statute to not refer the application to the voters. 



 

8 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Planning Commission has recommended approval of the application and that the City 
Council assign Medium Density Residential zoning to the property, with Natural Resource 
Overlay zone within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch, as indicated in their attached order. 

The staff has enclosed the draft ordinance in the packet, without recommendation.  The 
Council’s decision is to determine if the property should be annexed at this time and if so, 
which residential zone is appropriate. 

There may be testimony at the public hearing that requires the findings in the draft ordinance 
be modified to reflect that testimony. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options. 

1. Approve the application for annexation, assign MD Zoning, and approve the first 
consideration of Ordinance 1043 

Move to approve the application of Gene Jones (Land Use File #11-07/19) for annexation, 
assign Medium Density Residential Zoning to the property with the Natural Resource 
Overlay District applying within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch by enacting Ordinance No 1043 as 
presented. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the vote is unanimous, Ordinance No. 1043 is 
enacted and will be presented to the Mayor for his approval. 

If the vote is not unanimous, Ordinance No. 1043 will be brought before the Council for a 
second consideration at the March 16, 2019 meeting. 

2. Approve the application for annexation, assign MD Zoning, and approve the first 
consideration of Ordinance 1043 with modifications 

Move to approve the application of Gene Jones (Land Use File #11-07/19) for annexation, 
assign Medium Density Residential Zoning to the property with the Natural Resource 
Overlay District applying within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch by enacting Ordinance No 1043 with 
the following changes … and direct staff to incorporate these changes into the Ordinance 
before the Ordinance is presented to the City Council for a second consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the first consideration is approved, Ordinance 
No. 1043 will be brought before the Council for a second consideration at its March 16, 2019 
meeting. 

3. Approve the application for annexation, assign HD zoning and the first consideration of 
Ordinance 1043 with modifications 

Move to approve the application of Gene Jones (Land Use File #11-07/19) for annexation, 
assign High Density Residential Zoning to the property with the Natural Resource Overlay 
District applying within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch by enacting Ordinance No 1043 changing the 
assigned zoning to High Density Residential and direct staff to incorporate this change into 



 

9 
 

the Ordinance before the Ordinance is presented to the City Council for a second 
consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the first consideration is approved, Ordinance 
No. 1043 will be brought before the Council for a second consideration at its March 16, 2019 
meeting. 

4. Approve the application for annexation, assign LD zoning and the first consideration of 
Ordinance 1043 with modifications 

Move to approve the application of Gene Jones (Land Use File #11-07/19) for annexation, 
assign Low Density Residential Zoning to the property with the Natural Resource Overlay 
District applying within 100 feet of Lucas Ditch by enacting Ordinance No 1043 changing the 
assigned zoning to Low Density Residential and direct staff to incorporate this change into 
the Ordinance before the Ordinance is presented to the City Council for a second 
consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the first consideration is approved, Ordinance 
No. 1035 will be brought before the Council for a second consideration at its September 16, 
2019 meeting. 

5. Deny the application 

Move to deny the applications of application of Gene Jones (Land Use File #11-07/19) for 
annexation and direct staff to prepare a draft Order of Denial for consideration by the City 
Council. 

6. Continue the hearing until March 16, 2019. 

I move the City Council continue the public hearing on the application of Gene Jones (Land 
Use File #11-07/19) until March 16, 2019.  

7. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 

I move the City Council close the hearing on the application of Gene Jones (Land Use File 
#11-07/19) but maintain the record open to submissions by the applicant until March 16, 
allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal and then an additional 7 days for the applicant to 
reply, with final closure of the record on March 28, 2020.  

8. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 

I move the City Council continue the deliberation on the application of Gene Jones (Land 
Use File #11-07/19) until March 16, 2019. 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 1 of 2 
Annexation & Zoning Map Amendment – 13601 Fern Ridge Rd 

ORDINANCE NO. 1043 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING INTO THE CITY OF STAYTON CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED ON FERN RIDGE ROAD AND CHANGING THE ZONING OF THE PROPERTY FROM 
MARION COUNTY URBAN TRANSITIONAL (UT) TO CITY OF STAYTON MEDIUM DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL (MD) 

 WHEREAS, Gene Jones has initiated annexation of that certain real property located in the 
southwest quarter of Section 2, Township 9 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, Marion County, 
Oregon, more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein, and further 
illustrated on a surveyor’s plat shown in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein, and shown as 
Parcels 500 and 600 on the excerpt of Marion County Assessor’s Map 091W02 shown in Exhibit C 
attached hereto and incorporated herein; 

WHEREAS, Robert H. Miller, trustee of the Robert H. Miller Trust, Beverly M. Cox and Richard 
F. Cox, trustees of the Beverly M. Cox Living Trust, Dan Wagner, Christine L. Miller, Margaret A. 
Williams, and Ronald J. Williams and Margaret A Williams, trustees of the Williams Living Trust, joint 
owners of the property, have consented to the annexation of the property;   

 WHEREAS, on October 14, 2019, pursuant to ORS 222.125 and Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) 
Section 17.12.210, Gene Jones filed with the City of Stayton, Oregon, an annexation application, an 
application for Comprehensive Plan Amendment from Residential to Commercial, and a request to assign 
Interchange Development zoning to the annexed territory; 

 WHEREAS, on January 14, 2020, the applicant withdrew the application for Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment, and requested Medium Density Residential zoning be applied to the annexed territory; 

WHEREAS, the applicant’s revised proposal is to annex the property with the intent of 
constructing a mobile home park; 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton Planning 
Commission on December 9, 2019 and the hearing was continued until January 27, 2020; 

 WHEREAS, the territory to be annexed is contiguous to the City Limits on three sides; 

 WHEREAS, the territory to be annexed is currently zoned Urban Transition (UT-20), and the 
applicant has requested that the territory to be annexed be zoned Medium Density Residential in 
accordance with the Stayton Comprehensive Plan Map; 

WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council held a public hearing as required by law on March 2, 2020;  

WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council makes findings of fact regarding the application as 
contained in Exhibit D attached hereto and incorporated herein;  

WHEREAS Chapter 51 of the Oregon Laws of 2016 requires the City Council to finalize the 
annexation and not forward the application to the voters of the City as required by City Charter and SMC 
Section 17.12.210.2.a.2);  

WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council concludes, based on the findings of fact contained in 
Exhibit C, that the application meets the criteria for approval in SMC 17.12.210.5; and  

WHEREAS, the Stayton City Council concludes, based on the findings of fact contained in 
Exhibit C, that the appropriate zoning for the territory to be annexed is Medium Density Residential in 
order to assist City meet its goal of between 5 and 6 housing units per acre of land zoned residential; 

NOW THEREFORE, the City of Stayton ordains: 



Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 2 of 2 
Annexation & Zoning Map Amendment – 13601 Fern Ridge Rd 

Section 1.  Pursuant to ORS 222.125, the Stayton City Council hereby proclaims the annexation to the 
City of Stayton, Oregon, of territory in the southwest quarter of Section 2, Township 9 South, Range 1 
West, Willamette Meridian, Marion County, Oregon, the legal description of which is described in 
Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein. 

Section 2.  Pursuant to ORS 222.005 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide by certified mail to all 
public utilities, telecommunication facilities, and franchise holders operating within the City a written 
notice of each site address to be annexed as recorded on the Marion County assessment and tax rolls a 
legal description and map of the proposed boundary change, and a copy of this Ordinance.  This notice 
shall be mailed within (10) ten working days of the passage of this Ordinance. 

Section 3.  Pursuant to ORS 222.010 the Stayton City Recorder shall, within ten (10) days of the passage 
of this Ordinance, send to the Marion County Clerk and Marion County Assessor a report of the 
annexation including a detailed legal description of the new boundaries established by the City. 

Section 4.  Pursuant to ORS 308.225(2) the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon 
Department of Revenue a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal description and map of the territory 
being annexed. 

Section 5.  Pursuant to ORS 222.177 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon Secretary of 
State a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal description and map of the territory being annexed, 
and a copy of documents indicating consent of the property owners. 

Section 6.  The Stayton Official Zoning Map is hereby amended to include the annexed territory as 
Medium Density Residential, with the Natural Resources Overlay District applying within 100 feet of 
Lucas Ditch. 

Section 7.  Upon adoption by the Stayton City Council and the Mayor’s signing, this Ordinance shall 
become effective 30 days after the date of signing and then only if no appeal to the Oregon Land Use 
Board of Appeals (LUBA) is timely filed.  In the event of a timely appeal to LUBA, this decision shall 
not become effective until the LUBA appeal is finally resolved, including any appeals from the decision 
of LUBA. 

ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL this Second day of March, 2020. 

CITY OF STAYTON 

Signed: ____________, 2020 BY: _______________________________ 
Henry A Porter, Mayor 

Signed: ____________, 2020 ATTEST: _______________________________ 
Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A, Annexation Area 
 
 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit B, Map of Annexation Area 

EXHIBIT B, Map of Annexation Area 
 
 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit C, Excerpt from Assessor’s Map 

EXHIBIT C, Excerpt From Marion County Assessors Map 091W02 
Showing Territory Being Annexed 

 
 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 1 of 3 
Exhibit D, Findings of Fact 

 
EXHIBIT D, CITY COUNCIL FINDINGS OF FACT 

LAND USE FILE #11-07/19 

A. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

1. The owners of the property are the Robert H Miller Trust, Beverly M Cox Living Trust, Dan 
Wagner, Christine L Miller, Margaret A Williams, and Williams Living Trust. 

2. The applicant is Eugene Jones, who has submitted a copy of a sales agreement. 

3. The property can be described as: Township 9, Range 1 West of the Willamette Meridian, Section 
2, Tax Lots 500 and 600.  Tax Lot 600 is addressed as 13601 Fern Ridge Rd, Stayton. 

4. The property is currently outside of the City Limits and zoned Marion County Urban Transition 
(UT-20). The property is designated as Residential by the Stayton Comprehensive Plan Map. 

5. The property is located on Fern Ridge Rd and also has frontage on State Highway 22.  The 
property is approximately 19.1 acres in area with approximately 902 feet of frontage on Fern 
Ridge Rd. 

6. State Highway 22 is a limited access highway and there is no access permitted from the property 
to State Highway 22. 

7. The property to the west is inside the City Limits, is zoned Public/Semi-Public, was annexed in 
1977, and is developed as a church.  The properties to the south and across Fern Ridge Rd are 
located inside the City Limits, are zoned Low Density Residential, were annexed in 1953, and are 
developed with single family detached dwellings. The property to the east is located inside the 
City Limits, is zoned Medium Density Residential, was annexed in 1992, and is developed as a 
mobile home park.  The property to the north and across State Highway 22, is zoned Exclusive 
Farm Use, and is farmland. 

8. The property is currently vacant, with only a small storage building on the property. 

9. The property is traversed by Lucas Ditch. 

B. PROPOSAL 

The proposal is to annex approximately 19.1 acres of land into the City.  The applicant had also applied 
for a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment from Residential to Commercial.  The application for 
Comprehensive Plan Map amendment was withdrawn on January 14, 2020.  Though the applicant has not 
submitted an application for development approval, the application for annexation was accompanied by a 
conceptual plan for a recreational vehicle park.  With the withdrawal of the Comprehensive Plan Map 
amendment application, the applicant submitted a conceptual plan for the future development of a mobile 
home park. 

C. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal:  City of Stayton Public Works, Stayton Cooperative 
Telephone Company, Pacific Power, NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire District, Marion County Public 
Works, Marion County Planning Division, Santiam Water Control District, Oregon Department of 
Transportation, and the North Santiam School District. 

Marion County Planning Division replied with no comment. Comments were received from the Stayton 
Public Works Department through the City Engineer, from the City’s transportation engineering 
consultant, and from Marion County Public Works.  These comments are incorporated into the findings 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 2 of 3 
Exhibit D, Findings of Fact 

below.  The comments from Marion County Public Works addressed future development of the property 
and were not relevant to these applications. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The Planning Department notified all owners of property within 300 feet of the subject property at least 
twenty days prior to the December 9 public hearing.  The applicant posted a city-supplied sign on the 
property.  Written comments from one individual were received prior to the public hearing.  Where these 
comments addressed the review criteria for the applications, they are reflected in the findings below, but 
the comments mostly addressed future development of the property and stormwater impacts. 

Testimony was received from 13 individuals at the December 9 public hearing.  All members of the 
public spoke in opposition to the Comprehensive Plan Map amendment and the establishment of 
commercial use on the subject property.  Whereas the application for Comprehensive Plan map 
amendment has been withdrawn the details of that testimony is not included below. 

Following the December 9 public hearing written comments were received from the Fair Housing Council 
of Oregon and Housing Land Advocates.  These comments were regarding the Comprehensive Plan map 
amendment and therefore are not detailed below. 

The Planning Department notified all owners of property within 300 feet of the subject property at least 
ten days prior to the January 27 continuation of the public hearing.  The applicant posted a city-supplied 
sign on the property.   

Testimony was received from eight individuals at the January 27 continuation of the public hearing.  No 
testimony was expressed directly opposed to the annexation.  Testimony was offered regarding the 
requested zoning, with concern being expressed regarding the development of duplexes, about the 
applicant again changing their plans, about impact of development on the footpath in nearby 
neighborhood and about possible stormwater impacts from development. 

E. ANALYSIS 

Annexation applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton Municipal Code 
(SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.210.  The amendment of the Official Zoning Map, required to assign a 
zone to the newly annexed territory, is required to satisfy the approval criteria contained within SMC 
Section 17.12.180. 

F. REVIEW CRITERIA 

Section 17.12.180.6 Official Zoning Map Amendment Approval Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 
17.12.180.6.b the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the application for Zoning 
Map amendment: 

1) The proposed zone is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map designation for the subject 
property unless a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has also been applied for and is 
otherwise compatible with applicable provisions of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Finding:  The applicant has requested Medium Density Residential be assigned upon annexation.  
The property is designated Residential by the Comprehensive Plan Map.  The Comprehensive 
Plan Map also indicates that a Natural Resource Protection District will be applied within 100 feet 
of Lucas Ditch. 

2) Existing or anticipated services (water, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, schools, police and fire 
protection) can accommodate potential development in the subject area without adverse impact on 
the affected service area.  



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 3 of 3 
Exhibit D, Findings of Fact 

Finding:  There is a 10-inch sewer main located partially within a utility easement on the subject 
property and partially within the Fern Ridge Rd right of way along the entire length of the subject 
property. There is a 10-inch and 12-inch sewer main located in a utility easement along the west 
side of the subject property.  There is a 6-inch water main located on the south side of Fern Ridge 
Rd.  The Public Works Department has commented that the Water Master Plan calls for 
construction of a 16-inch water main along the north side of Fern Ridge Road connecting to the 
existing 16-inch mains located in the street right of way to both the east and west of the subject 
property.  The Stayton Fire District, North Santiam School District and the Stayton Police 
Department were notified of the application.  No comments were received from these agencies. 

3) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under the 
proposed zone designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the Oregon 
Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060).  

Finding:  The City’s 2019 Transportation System Plan assumed development of this property as 
residential. 

4) The purpose of the proposed zoning district satisfies the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan.  

Finding:  Policy HO-1 calls for the City to encourage development of housing that meets the needs 
of all income groups of existing and future residents.  The action to implement this policy is to 
assure that an adequate supply of land in all residential zones is available for development within 
the City.  Staff reports that there are currently 69 vacant lots reasonably available for development 
within the LD zone, of which 16 are large enough to be further divided and that there are 15 
vacant lots in the MD zone, of which seven are large enough to be further divided.  Further, the 
Comprehensive Plan notes that the established residential density guideline for Stayton is between 
5 and 6 housing units per gross acre of residentially zoned land.  During the period between 2000 
and the drafting of the Comprehensive Plan the subdivisions recorded were at a density of only 2.8 
units per acre.  Since the time of drafting the comprehensive plan only one additional subdivision 
has been platted, with a density of 3.7 units per acre.  Assigning MD zoning would assist the City 
meet its density goal. 

5) Balance is maintained in the supply of vacant land in the zones affected by the zone change to 
meet the demand for projected development in the Comprehensive Plan.  Vacant land in the 
proposed zone is not adequate in size, configuration or other characteristics to support the 
proposed use or development.  A Zone Map Amendment shall not eliminate all available vacant 
land from any zoning designation. 

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan projects that 70% of the new housing units will be single-
family detached, 15% of the new housing units will be single-family attached or duplexes, and that 
13% will be multifamily.  The proposed MD zoning would potentially allow single family 
attached, duplexes, triplexes and a mobile home park.  By assigning MD zoning to this parcel the 
City will be providing for a slightly higher density and providing the potential for housing types 
other than single family detached. 

6) The proposed zone amendment satisfies applicable provisions of Oregon Administrative Rules. 

Finding:  Notice of the proposed amendment was provided to the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development on October 29, more than 35 days prior to the Planning 
Commission’s hearing. 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 4 of 3 
Exhibit D, Findings of Fact 

7) The physical characteristics of the property proposed for rezoning are appropriate for the 
proposed zone and the potential uses allowed by the proposed zone will not have an adverse 
impact on the surrounding land uses.   

Finding:  The property is gently sloping and would allow for a wide variety of development 
opportunities.  Though the applicant has not submitted a concurrent application for site plan 
review approval, the applicant has indicated an intent to develop a mobile home park and 
submitted a conceptual plan for that development.  The property is traversed by Lucas Ditch and 
has a seasonal drainage swale feeding Lucas Ditch.  The Local Wetland Inventory indicates 
significant wetlands are on the property along Lucas Ditch and the seasonal drainage from Fern 
Ridge Rd to Lucas Ditch. 

The property to the west is a church.  The land adjacent to Highway 22, on the northeast of the 
highway, is farmland.  The property to the east is a mobile home park.  To the south, across Fern 
Ridge Rd, are single family dwellings. 

Annexation Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 17.12.210.4 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being 
satisfied by the application: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 

Finding: The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).  
The 2013 BLI provides the following information on projected growth and need for additional land in 
the community.  At that time there were 114 lots comprising 106 acres of vacant land inside the City 
limits in the Low, Medium, and High Density Residential Zones.  The projected population for the 
City in 2030 (at a growth rate of 1.7%) was 11,359 people, requiring an additional 1,281 dwellings.  
To meet that need, the City Comprehensive Plan indicates the expected need of additional 320 acres 
of residential to be annexed into the City.   Since the time that analysis was conducted, the City has 
annexed 38 acres of residential land. 

Staff has calculated approximate information on current buildable lands as follows.  There are 
currently 81 vacant lots totaling 110 acres within the City limits that are residentially zoned. 

Only two subdivisions have been platted in the past 5 years.  Four subdivisions have been platted in 
the past 10 years.  The total number of lots in each and the current status is shown in the table below. 

Recent Subdivisions in Stayton 

Subdivision Name Year Platted No of Lots  Existing Homes Vacant Lots 

Phillips Estates, Phase 2 2014 26 5 21 
Wildlife Meadows 2017 44 41 5 

In addition, there is a possible third phase of the Phillips Estates subdivision, accounting for a 
potential of 10 lots, and the Lambert Place subdivision with 51 lots, and the Virginia Terrace 
subdivision with four lots, that have received preliminary plan approval from the Planning 
Commission but not yet been platted with Marion County. 

Though there are 81 parcels totaling 110 acres in the City and residentially zoned, staff estimates that 
there are only 74 parcels totaling 60 acres of vacant property within the City limits that is residentially 
zoned and reasonably available for development.  Lack of utility availability, ownership by a 
governmental entity, wetlands and floodplain issues constrain the ability of the remaining land to be 
available for development.  Within the LD zone there are 59 lots reasonably available for 
development.  In the MD zone there are 14 vacant lots.  There is only one vacant lot in the High 
Density Residential Zone.  With 4 acres, it has the potential capacity for 50 to 60 dwelling units. 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1043 (Land Use File #11-07/19) Page 5 of 3 
Exhibit D, Findings of Fact 

The City’s growth rate from 2000 and 2019 has been at an average annual rate of about 0.8%, with a 
population change of 1,054 people.  The Marion County Coordinated Growth projection for 2030 is 
11,360, reflecting a 1.7% average annual growth rate for the next twenty years.  At a 1.7% growth rate 
from the most recent certified population estimate of the City, there would be the need for 495 new 
dwellings units over the next 10 years.  At an average of 5 units per acre for single family 
development, there would be the need for all of the existing vacant land in the City and 40 acres of 
land beyond the vacant land considered reasonably available for development to accommodate this 
number of homes. 

b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services, including such 
services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract annexation agreement between the 
applicant and the City. 

Finding:  There is a 10-inch sewer main located partially within a utility easement on the subject 
property and partially within the Fern Ridge Rd right of way along the entire length of the subject 
property. There is a 10-inch and 12-inch sewer main located in a utility easement along the west side 
of the subject property.    There is a 6-inch water main located on the south side of Fern Ridge Rd.  
The Public Works Department has commented that the Water Master Plan calls for construction of a 
16-inch water main along the north side of Fern Ridge Road connecting to the existing 16-inch mains 
located in the street right of way to both the east and west of the subject property.   The Public Works 
Department has also commented that dedication of right way will be required at the time of 
development, in that the existing Fern Ridge Rd right of way does not meet Public Works Design 
Standards for a major collector street. 

c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional limits. 

Finding: The property is adjacent to the existing City Limits on three sides.  The Foothills Church 
property was annexed in 1977.  The Boulders Mobile Home Park property was annexed in 1992.  The 
north half of the Fern Ridge Rd right of way was annexed in 2014. 

d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and complies 
with the urban growth program and the policies of the City of Stayton. 

Finding: The surrounding area is developed with residential properties and a church.  The applicant 
has submitted a conceptual plan for the development of a mobile home park. 

e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable provisions of state 
and local law. 

Finding:  The criteria of ORS 222 apply to the adoption of an annexation ordinance which is a City 
Council action.  The property owners have consented to the annexation.  Chapter 51 of the Oregon 
Laws of 2016 requires a city to annex the territory without submitting the proposal to the electors if 1) 
the territory is within the urban growth boundary, 2) the territory will be subject to an acknowledged 
comprehensive plan, 3) the territory is contiguous to the city limits, and 4) the proposal conforms to 
all other requirements of the city’s ordinances.  The City of Stayton Comprehensive Plan was 
acknowledged in 2013.  The territory to be annexed is within the City’s urban growth boundary.  The 
territory is contiguous to the city limits on three sides.  The other findings contained herein 
demonstrate the requirements of the City’s code have been met. 

f. If a proposed contract annexation, the terms and conditions, including the cost of City facility and 
service extensions to the annexed area shall be calculated by the Public Works Director. 

Finding:  The proposed annexation is not a contract annexation. 



 
2020-2021 Intergovernmental Agreements PW 3290-20 and PW 3208-19 
March 2, 2020  Page 1 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

INFORMATIONAL 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Lance S. Ludwick, P.E., Director of Public Works 
 
DATE:   March 2, 2020 
 
SUBJECT:  Intergovernmental Agreements with Marion County for 2020 

Slurry Seal and Asphalt Pavement Overlay Programs 
  
     
ISSUE 
The City of Stayton and Marion County have formed a partnership and entered into 
Intergovernmental Agreements (IGA NO.  PW-3290-20 and PW-3208-19) for the City of Stayton 
to join the Marion County Pavement Management Contracts to provide Slurry Seal and Asphalt 
Pavement Overlay Services to the City  
 
ENCLOSURE(S) 
1. Signed and Executed Intergovernmental Agreements PW-3290-20 and PW-3208-19 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
In the past Marion County Public Works and the City of Stayton Public Works Departments have 
worked separately to advertise contracts to perform slurry seals and asphalt paving services for 
their respective organizations. In 2018 Marion County and the City of Stayton entered into an 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) to provide slurry seal services to the City of Stayton. The 
City of Stayton had not performed slurry seals prior to 2018 as a method of pavement 
management. The project proved to be a very cost effective way to perform the service by 
using the economies of scale to benefit both departments. The City was able to perform almost 
twice as much area by partnering with Marion County. The 2020-21 slurry seal project will 
consist of Burnett and Virginia Streets from 10th to 19th Avenues, with the intersecting streets of 
9th, 10th, 12th, 15th and 19th streets being sealed also. 

Because of the success of the slurry seal projects Marion County and the City of Stayton have 
entered into an IGA to perform Asphalt Pavement services to the City of Stayton this summer to 
determine if this is fruitful and cost effective for both organizations. The Industrial Way Streets 
will be the focus of the pavement overlay program.  Deschutes Avenue from Wilco Road to 
Rogue Avenue, Rogue Avenue from Deschutes Avenue to Stayton Road and Willamette Avenue 
from Deschutes Avenue to Rogue Avenue will be milled and overlaid with asphalt.  



 
2020-2021 Intergovernmental Agreements PW 3290-20 and PW 3208-19 
March 2, 2020  Page 2 

 
COST BENEFIT 
The cost benefit is unknown at this time but historical data would suggest the City will save 
between 25-50 % for the slurry seal services and between 10-20% for the asphalt paving 
services. The final cost savings will be evaluated and brought to the City Council in an 
informational memorandum.  
 
 





















































                                                                                                      February 28, 2020

To the Honorable Mayor and Stayton City Council,

I am not in favor of another mobile home park in Stayton.

Staff talks about not meeting our density requirements which has been increased by pressures from the 
state legislature and the planning lobby that wants to adapt big city planning to small communities 
around Oregon.  We should resist this increased density movement and go back and change our codes.  
We live here they do not.

I also believe the Council should direct the staff to adopt policies that actually represent the community
thinking, not the planner’s and the Planning Commission’s.

Our neighbor, Sublimity, continues to develop 10,000 square foot residential lots.  I think it is great that
they continue to buck the system.  By them doing that however it will drive Stayton to higher densities,
overcrowding Stayton with developments similar (medium densities) to what you have before you 
tonight.

We do not need another mobile home park in this area.  We have three.  Sublimity one.  Aumsville is 
also represented with a park.  Choices abound.

Our planer says if this plan is approved by the Council, but the current applicant moves on without 
developing the park the conceptual plan will be come part of the property.  That is not necessarily the 
case.  Once the property is zoned medium density a future Council may allow a development of 
duplexes on the property.  And we can look around town and see how poorly they are maintained.

Staff says the Council needs to assign one of three residential zones to the property.  My read is that the
Council can split the property into more than one residential zone during the annexation process.

For example, High Density zoning which is, needed in the community, could be placed on the property 
north of the Lucas ditch.  Low density (single family) would be placed south of the ditch and would be 
compatible with the surrounding area.  Doing this would create a higher density than all single family 
homes on the parcel.

I am in favor of the annexation, but not in favor of designating the land as medium density.  If you 
choose all one zone make it LD, single family.

The developer is not concerned with what the community wants, but with what he wants.  He started 
with an RV Park and now it is a Mobile home Park.

He is “shopping” the development code.  Stayton is not The Price Is Right so you can choose 
whichever door you want.

Thank you for your consideration.

Gerry Aboud
836 East Kathy Street
Stayton, Or 97383



 

 

Brooke Winstead 
845 Summerview Drive 
Stayton, OR 97383 
541.598.6576 
Lbwinstead@yahoo.com 
 
March 2,  2020 

Stayton City Council 

Dear Councilors, 

I’m writing today to object to the proposed mobile home park on Fern Ridge 
Road. I live in the neighborhood directly to the west of this property, The 
Village at Sylvan Springs, and I can see many potential issues arising from 
allowing a mobile home park at this location. 

My first concern is the increased stormwater runoff. Once that land is 
developed, there will be a noticeable increase in water needing a place to go. 
The Village at Sylvan Springs already has flooding issues from the protected 
wetlands, which run alongside the back of our homes. This is where all of the 
runoff goes, from hospital hill and every other home in between. Our HOA is 
responsible for the wetlands, yet the city continues to allow building and 
changes which affect the wetlands and our HOA. 

My second concern is the increased traffic. The intersection at Fern Ridge and 
HWY 22 is not a safe intersection. You are either crossing traffic to enter Fern 
Ridge, or you’re merging with traffic going 60+mph from a complete stop. 
Adding a mobile home park so close to this will impact an already dangerous 
intersection and add to the traffic getting on and off of HWY 22. We’ve 
recently seen an increase of traffic on Fern Ridge from the new MAPS CU and 
Verizon store and it can not handle much more. 

Lastly, the homes around Fern Ridge are nice. These homeowners take pride 
in their homes and neighborhoods. It’s a safe part of town and we would like 
to keep it that way. There’s a field behind Foothills Church, which is in 
between our neighborhood and the proposed site. We are suspecting that 
people living in the mobile home park would use this field to cross into our 
neighborhood to get to the Arco Station, liquor store, Dairy Queen, and other 
stores in that area. We do not welcome any questionable foot traffic in our 
neighborhood. 

These are the main reasons I object to the proposed mobile home park. Our 
HOA is already over extended with the wetlands as they are. We cannot 
support an increase of water, which may flood our homes. We need safe 
access into and out of our homes. And we need to know our kids are safe in 

 

mailto:Lbwinstead@yahoo.com


 

 

the neighborhood and not worry about hundreds of people cutting through 
our neighborhood to access stores. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Brooke Winstead 


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



